IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S274942

v.

DEANDRE LYNCH,

Defendant and Appellant.

Third Appellate District No. C094174 Sacramento County Superior Court No. 20FE009532 Honorable Geoffrey A. Goodman, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CENTRAL CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROGRAM

LAUREL THORPE Executive Director *JACQUELYN LARSON, SBN 264712 Staff Attorney 2150 River Plaza Drive Suite 300 Sacramento, CA 95833 (916) 441-3792 jlarson@capcentral.org

Attorneys for Appellant Deandre Lynch

ISSUE PRESENTED

What prejudice standard applies on appeal when determining whether a case should be remanded for resentencing in light of newly-enacted Senate Bill No. 567 (Stats. 2021, ch. 731)?

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

With Senate Bill No. 567 (S.B. 567), the Legislature has limited the trial court's discretion to impose an upper term sentence unless the facts underlying the aggravating factors, with the exception of prior convictions, are proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The statutory maximum is now the middle term.

The amendments made by S.B. 567 to Penal Code¹ section 1170, subdivision (b), apply retroactively to this case as an ameliorative change in the law applicable to all nonfinal convictions on appeal. (*People v. Lynch*, C094174, slip op. at p. 5, citing *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 745; *People*

¹ All undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code.

v. Conley (2016) 63 Cal.4th 646, 657 ["in the absence of contrary indications, a legislative body ordinarily intends for ameliorative changes to the criminal law to extend as broadly as possible"]; *People v. Flores* (2022) 73 Cal.App.5th 1032, 1039 [holding S.B. 567 applies retroactively to nonfinal convictions on appeal].)

While the parties and the Court of Appeal agreed that amended section 1170 applies retroactively, the issue remains what standard of prejudice should be applied to determine whether remand is necessary when a trial court has imposed a sentence that does not comply with amended section 1170, subdivisions (b)(1) through (b)(3).²

In determining the prejudice standard to apply, California Courts of Appeal have created no less than four different rules or variations of the standard of prejudice necessary to determine whether remand is required when sentencing did not comply with amended section 1170. Generally, most of these follow a two-step process. First, relying on *People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825 (*Sandoval*), the reviewing court determines whether the jury *would have found* the aggravating factors true beyond a reasonable doubt under the *Chapman*³ standard. (See, e.g., *People v. Dunn* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 394, 408; *Flores, supra*, 75 Cal.App.5th 495; *People v. Lopez* (2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 459, 465; *People v. Zabelle* (2022) 80 Cal.App.5th 1098,

² This brief will refer to section 1170, as recently amended and in place from January 1, 2022, to the present, as "amended section 1170" or "section 1170, as amended by S.B. 567."

Additionally, section 1170, as enacted and in place between 2007 and 2022, will be referred to as "former section 1170."

Finally, section 1170, as originally enacted and in place between 1977 and 2007, will be referred to as "original section 1170." ³ *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18.

1114.) Several courts have also found that the reviewing court must then, second, also determine whether the trial court would nevertheless have imposed the upper term based on the remaining unproven aggravating circumstances. (*Lopez, supra*, 78 Cal.App.5th at pp. 465-466; *Dunn, supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 408; *Zabelle, supra*, 80 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1114-1115.)

The appellate courts' analyses are flawed. The history of the determinative sentencing law and the federal jurisprudence related to the right to a jury trial on sentencing factors demonstrate why *Sandoval* is inapposite. *Sandoval* involved a comprehensively different sentencing scheme than the one created by S.B. 567. Instead of a sentencing scheme which permitted trial courts to exercise discretion in selecting the lower, middle or upper term, as was at issue in *Sandoval*, S.B. 567 sets the statutory maximum at the middle term. Only a jury finding, not judicial factfinding, can statutorily permit an upper term, other than the fact of a prior conviction. (Amended § 1170, subd. (b)(1)-(3).) Additionally, because recent S.B. 567 cases involve only retroactive applications of amended section 1170, these cases failed to consider that the standard of prejudice should be the same for retroactive violations as it will be for prospective violations of the statute.

To comply with statutory mandates of section 1170 and constitutional requirements, the reviewing court must first determine whether any aggravating factors have been proven in accordance with section 1170. If not, an upper term sentence is statutorily unauthorized, as well as unconstitutional. No showing of prejudice needs to be established. The only time that remand is permitted under these circumstances is if the case involves the retroactive application of S.B. 567, to permit the parties the opportunity to present evidence at a new full resentencing hearing. (*People v. Figueroa* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 65, 71-72.)

If one or more aggravating factors are proven in accordance with amended section 1170, the reviewing court may proceed to determine whether the sentencing error was harmless. Because amended section 1170 was intended to comply with the federal constitutional requirements, errors related to the failure to provide a jury trial require the *Chapman* standard to be applied. If the trial court relied on facts were which not proven in a constitutionally-permissible manner, then the case must be remanded for resentencing if the People cannot establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the upper term would have been imposed in the absence of the error. In no event, however, can the reviewing court engage in judicial factfinding to determine whether any of the aggravating factors *would have been* proven in order to support the upper term had a jury trial been accorded to the defendant.

In this case, the fact of several of appellant's prior convictions was proven in accordance with amended section 1170. (Slip op., pp. 6-7.) However, the Court of Appeal erred in engaging in judicial factfinding in holding that other facts, not found by a jury, were properly relied upon in setting the upper term. (Slip op., pp. 5-6.) Here, the People cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt under *Chapman* that the trial court would have imposed the upper term under amended section 1170, where the trial court relied upon seven impermissible aggravating factors, some of which were subjective and contested. Reversal is required. Even if the prejudice standard under *People v*. *Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836 (*Watson*) is applied, the case must be remanded.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Lynch was charged by an amended information with one count of assault with a deadly weapon on Joseph Carter (§ 245, subd. (a)(1),

count 1), one count of assault with a deadly weapon on Jasmine Doe (§ 245, subd. (a)(1), count 2), and three counts of domestic violence upon Jasmine Doe (§ 273.5, subd. (a), counts 3-5). (1CT 177-180.) Counts 2 and 3 were based on the same act on the same date. As to each domestic violence count, the information also alleged that appellant had a prior domestic violence conviction. (§ 273.5, subd. (f)(1).) It was further alleged that appellant had previously been convicted of a serious felony within the meaning of section 667, subdivisions (b)-(i). (1CT 178-180.)

During trial, the court granted appellant's motion to bifurcate the hearing on the prior strike conviction, and appellant waived his right to have that determination made the jury. (4RT 307, 6RT 606; 1CT 176.)

On March 30, 2021, the jury announced that it was deadlocked on count 1, assault with a deadly weapon against Joseph Carter. (1CT 256-259.) That count was later dismissed. (1CT 37.)

On count 2, the jury found appellant not guilty of assault with a deadly weapon on Jasmine Doe, but guilty of the lesser included offense of simple assault. (1CT 257.) The jury additionally found appellant guilty of the three counts of domestic violence, counts 3 through 5. (1CT 257-258.)

The trial court found true the prior domestic violence conviction, resulting in a higher sentencing triad (§ 273.5, subd. (f)(1)). (9RT 786.) Additionally, the trial court found true the prior serious felony conviction, which resulted in doubling appellant's sentence under section 667, subdivisions (b)-(i). (9RT 786.)

Appellant was sentenced to an aggregate term of 15 years and four months. This consisted of the upper term of five years on count 3 (§ 273.5, subd. (f)(1)), doubled due to the prior strike to 10 years. The trial court relied on eight aggravating factors in imposing the upper term. (9RT 799-800.) The court then imposed two years and eight months, or one-third the middle term, each, to be served consecutively, on counts 4 and 5. (9RT 801; 1CT 300.) The sentence on count 2, misdemeanor battery, was stayed pursuant to section 654. (9RT 801.)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on May 20, 2021. (1CT 299.)

S.B. 567 went into effect on January 1, 2022, while appellant's appeal was pending.

On May 27, 2022, a divided panel of the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in an unpublished opinion. (*People v. Lynch*, C094174.) The court held that S.B. 567 applied retroactively, but found harmless the trial court's reliance on six aggravating factors which were not established consistent with the new requirements of amended section 1170. (Slip op., p. 13.) One justice dissented. (Slip op., dis. op. of Renner, J.)

This Court granted review on August 10, 2022. (S274942.)

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On May 24, 2020, Joseph Carter, brother of Jasmine Doe, drove to the house where Jasmine Doe and appellant lived together to pick up Jasmine Doe for a family barbecue. (5RT 384-385.) Carter and appellant got into a physical altercation, and the police were called. (5RT 412.)

While talking to police, Jasmine Doe described three different incidents of domestic violence. (6RT 642; 650-651.) One incident occurred earlier on the same day and related to appellant hitting Jasmine Doe with a table leg. (Count 3; 1CT 178; 6RT 650.) The assault count was premised on the same incident. (Count 2; 1CT 178; 6RT 650.) Another incident occurred approximately three days earlier and related to appellant hitting Jasmine Doe with a broom handle. (Count 4; 1CT 178; 6RT 51.) In addition, Doe related third incident which occurred approximately a week earlier and involved to appellant hitting Jasmine Doe with an extension cord. (Count 5; 1CT 179; 6RT 51; see also 7RT 716, 720.) The police officers took photographs of Jasmine Doe's bruises. (7RT 651.) While testifying at trial, Jasmine Doe had difficulty remembering or describing the incidents with any accuracy. (See, e.g., 5RT 439-440, 444-446.)

Count 1, the assault involving Joseph Carter, was dismissed after the jury deadlocked. (1CT 37, 256-259.)

LEGAL BACKGROUND

The Determinate Sentencing Law and the United States Supreme Court's Evolving Jurisprudence Regarding the Sixth Amendment Right to a Jury Trial.

The Legislature's sentencing scheme under S.B. 567 was specifically designed to correspond with the constitutional right to a jury trial on all facts that allow imposition of a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum, as laid out in *Cunningham v. California* (2007) 549 U.S. 270 (*Cunningham*).⁴

California's Determinate Sentencing Law (DSL), and more specifically, section 1170, has been influenced and modified to reflect federal constitutional requirements regarding due process and the right to a jury trial in sentencing. This history must be examined in order to determine whether a trial court's sentence complies with constitutional mandates and the standard to apply when it does not.

This jurisprudence makes clear that a court may not sentence a defendant for an offense greater than the one found true by the jury. When

⁴ This brief will refer to "the right to a jury trial," acknowledging that this includes the right to waive a jury trial, and then to either make admissions or elect a court trial. (*People v. Ernst* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 441, 444–445; Cal. Const., art. I, § 16.)

the statutory maximum is the middle term, as it is now, the court lacks jurisdiction to impose a sentence greater than the middle term without mandated jury findings, except for the fact of a prior conviction. (*Cunningham, supra*, 549 U.S. at p. 288-289.) Because these protections have been codified into amended section 1170, an offense with an aggravated upper term becomes similar to an aggravated offense; the Legislature has essentially added an additional element which must be proved by jury trial.

Because courts of appeal may not engage in judicial factfinding, if no facts have been proven in conformity with amended section 1170, the middle term is the maximum sentence that may be imposed. When a sentence is authorized because one or more factors were properly found, imposition of an upper term sentence which relies upon facts not proven to a jury is federal law error, as amended section 1170 was enacted to codify the right to a jury trial under *Cunningham, supra*, 549 U.S. at p. 288-289. Therefore, these errors must be examined under *Chapman, supra*, 386 U.S. 18.

A. As Originally Enacted, The DSL Permitted Sentencing Courts To Rely on Aggravating Facts Not Found True by A Jury.

California's DSL originally became operative on July 1, 1977, replacing a prior system under which most offenses carried an indeterminate sentence. (*People v. Black* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1238, 1246 (*Black I*), overruled in *Cunningham, supra*, 549 U.S. 270.)

Under the DSL as enacted, three terms of imprisonment were specified by statute for most offenses. The judge's discretion in selecting among these options was guided by original section 1170, subdivision (b), which stated that "the court shall order imposition of the middle term, unless there are circumstances in aggravation or mitigation of the crime." (*Black I, supra,* 35 Cal.4th at p. 1247.) To promote uniformity in sentencing, the Judicial Council was directed to adopt rules providing criteria for the judge to consider in deciding which term to impose. (*Ibid.*, citing original § 1170.3.) Under these rules, "[s]election of the upper term [wa]s justified only if, after a consideration of all the relevant facts, the circumstances in aggravation outweigh the circumstances in mitigation." (*Ibid.*, citing Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.420(b).)

Under the DSL at that time, the trial court was permitted to rely on aggravating facts that had not been found true by a jury. (*Black I, supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 1247.) The facts relevant to the choice of term were to be determined by the trial court, which could "consider the record in the case, the probation officer's report, other reports ... and statements in aggravation or mitigation, ... and any further evidence introduced at the sentencing hearing." (*Ibid.*, citing original § 1170, subd. (b).) Unless the trial court imposed the middle term, the court was required to give reasons for its sentencing choice. (*Ibid.*)

B. The United States Supreme Court's Evolving Jurisprudence on the Sixth Amendment Right to Jury Trial on Every Fact That Increases the Penalty for a Crime Beyond the Statutory Maximum: *Apprendi* and *Blakely*.

The federal Constitution's Fifth Amendment right to due process, made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, proscribes the deprivation of liberty without "due process of law." (U.S. Const., 5th & 14th Amends.) Additionally, the Sixth Amendment guarantees that "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury." (U.S. Const., 6th Amend.)

Taken together, these two rights "indisputably" entitle a criminal defendant to "a jury determination that [he] is guilty of every element of the crime with which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Apprendi v. New*

Jersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466, 490; see also Sullivan v. Louisiana (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 277-278 [Sixth Amendment right to jury trial requires the prosecution to prove to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt every element of a crime]; In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364 ["... the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged."])⁵

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, supra, 530 U.S. 466, the Court held that under these federal constitutional guarantees, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum, other than the fact of a prior conviction, "must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Id.* at p. 490.) Moreover, the jury-trial guarantee proscribes a sentencing scheme that allows a *judge* to impose a sentence above the statutory maximum based on a fact, other than a prior conviction, not found by a jury or admitted by the defendant. (*Id.* at p. 496.)

Next, in *Blakely v. Washington* (2004) 542 U.S. 296, the Supreme Court made clear that "the 'statutory maximum' for *Apprendi* purposes is the maximum sentence a judge may impose *solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant*. [Citations]." (*Id.* at p. 303, italics in original.) "In other words, the relevant 'statutory maximum' is not the maximum sentence a judge may impose after finding additional facts, but the maximum he may impose *without* any additional findings. When a judge inflicts punishment that the jury's verdict alone does not allow, the jury has not found all the facts 'which the law makes essential to the punishment,'...

⁵ The California Constitution also guarantees the right to due process and the right to a jury trial. (Cal. Const., art. I, §§ 7, 16.)

and the judge exceeds his proper authority." (*Id.* at pp. 303-304, italics in original.)

C. Applying Federal Constitutional Mandates, *Cunningham v. California* (2007) 549 U.S. 270, Found the Original DSL Unconstitutional.

Applying *Apprendi* and *Blakely*, the Supreme Court in *Cunningham v*. *California*, *supra*, 549 U.S. 270, held that California's original determinate sentencing law, as it existed from 1977 to 2007, violated the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, because it permitted a trial judge to determine facts, other than a prior conviction, that would allow imposition of a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum. (*Id.* at pp. 275–276.)

As in *Blakely*, the Court emphasized that the federal Constitution does not allow a sentencing scheme that permits a judge to impose a sentence above the *statutory maximum* based on a fact, other than a prior conviction, not found by a jury. (*Cunningham, supra*, 549 U.S. at pp. 274-275.)

Under the original DSL, where the middle term was the presumptive sentence, the middle term and not the upper term was the relevant statutory maximum. (*Id.* at p. 288.) Because circumstances in aggravation were found by the judge, not the jury, and needed to be established only by a preponderance of the evidence, not beyond a reasonable doubt, the original DSL violated *Apprendi*'s bright-line rule that, except for the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Id.* at pp. 288-289.)

The Supreme Court provided direction as to what steps the California Legislature could take to address the constitutional infirmities of the original determinate sentencing law. First, California could retain determinate sentencing by "calling upon the jury – either at trial or in a separate sentencing proceeding – to find any fact necessary to the imposition of an elevated sentence." (*Cunningham*, *supra*, 549 U.S. at p. 294.)

Or, in the alternative, the Legislature could choose "to permit judges genuinely to exercise broad discretion ... within a statutory range, which, everyone agrees, encounters no Sixth Amendment shoal." (*Ibid.*; see also *Apprendi, supra*, 530 U.S. at p. 481 [nothing "suggests that it is impermissible for judges to exercise discretion -- taking into consideration various factors relating both to offense and offender -- in imposing a judgment *within the range* prescribed by statute....[J]udges in this country have long exercised discretion of this nature in imposing sentence *within statutory limits* in the individual case."]

D. California's Former DSL (2007) after *Cunningham*, until the enactment of S.B. 567 (2022).

The California Legislature initially chose the latter option offered by *Cunningham*. Within two months of the issuance of *Cunningham* in 2007, as urgency legislation, the Legislature amended the determinate sentencing law specifically to make the choice of lower, middle, or upper terms within the sound discretion of the court. (See Sen. Bill 40, Romero (2007) & Sen. Bill 150, Wright (2007).) The amendment removed the requirement that the trial court impose the middle term unless there were circumstances in mitigation or aggravation, thereby making the upper term the relevant statutory maximum under *Apprendi*. (Sen. Bill 40, Romero (2007).) The urgency legislation had an initial sunset date of January 1, 2009, which was extended multiple times. This sentencing scheme remained in place until S.B. 567 took effect on January 1, 2022.

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