No. S274942

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

DEANDRE LYNCH,

Defendant and Appellant.

Third Appellate District, Case No. C094174 Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 20FE009532 The Honorable Geoffrey A. Goodman, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

B. The additional state-law error was harmless because there is no reasonable probability the jury would have rejected the remaining aggravating circumstances

The trial court's reliance upon the two aforementioned aggravating factors when it imposed the upper term sentence eliminated any federal constitutional issue and also satisfied the terms of amended section 1170. The additional six aggravating circumstances, however, were not proven in conformance with amended section 1170, subdivision (b): (1) that the crimes involved a high degree of cruelty, viciousness, and callousness (rule 4.421(a)(1)); (2) that the victim was particularly vulnerable (rule 4.421(a)(3)); (3) that Lynch's conduct and prior record indicated that he was a serious danger to society (rule 4.421(b)(1)); (4) that Lynch previously served prior prison terms (rule 4.421(b)(3)); (5) that Lynch was on parole at the time he committed the present offenses (rule 4.421(b)(4)); and (6) that Lynch performed unsatisfactorily while on parole (rule

4.421(b)(5)). This Court must therefore determine whether there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have rejected these aggravating factors had the prosecution sought to prove them to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt under the terms of amended section 1170, subdivision (b). (*Dunn, supra,* 81 Cal.App.5th at pp. 409-410; *Zabelle, supra,* 80 Cal.App.5th at p. 1113.) There is no such reasonable probability.

1. Crime of great violence and violent conduct

First, there is no reasonable probability that the jury would have rejected the aggravating circumstances that Lynch committed a crime of great violence (rule 4.421(a)(1)) and that Lynch engaged in violent conduct (rule 4.421(b)(1)).

The record demonstrates that Lynch physically abused Jasmine on a near-daily basis for months in early 2020. (5RT 451.) In February of that year, Lynch punched Jasmine in the face; he also kicked her and hit her repeatedly with a metal pole used to open and close curtains. (5RT 363-364; 7RT 650.) In that same month, Lynch kicked and hit Jasmine while she was not feeling well and was newly pregnant with Lynch's baby. (5RT 381.) In late February or early March 2020, Lynch kicked Jasmine and hit her repeatedly with an extension cord, leaving a deep, dark bruise on her back and another on her leg. (5RT 371, 457; 7RT 650.) On May 24, 2020, Lynch physically abused Jasmine until he was interrupted by her brother, who had arrived to pick up Jasmine for a barbeque. (5RT 393-394, 403; 6RT 540.) Around mid-May 2020, Lynch beat Jasmine with a metal broom or mop and repeatedly hit her with a wooden table

to the point where the table leg broke off; Lynch continued to hit Jasmine with the leg of the table. (5RT 439-440, 442, 444; 7RT 650-651, 656.) Jasmine had bruises all over her body from these incidents. (7RT 641.) Finally, on June 9, 2020, Jasmine woke up from a nap to find Lynch standing over her. (6RT 514-515.) Lynch took a gun from underneath his shirt and placed it on the nightstand facing Jasmine; he then picked it up and paced around the room. (6RT 514-515.)

Based on these facts, there is no reasonable probability the jury would have rejected the aggravating circumstances that Lynch committed a crime of great violence (rule 4.421(a)(1)) or that Lynch engaged in violent conduct (rule 4.421(b)(1)) had those circumstances been presented to it in accordance with section 1170, subdivision (b). Accordingly, the trial court's error in relying upon these aggravating circumstances without a jury finding under the new statute was harmless.

2. Particularly vulnerable victim

Second, there is no reasonable probability the jury would have rejected that Jasmine was "particularly vulnerable." (Rule 4.421(a)(3).) "Particularly . . . means in a special or unusual degree, to an extent greater than in other cases. Vulnerability means defenseless, unguarded, unprotected, accessible, assailable, one who is susceptible to the defendant's criminal act." (People v. Loudermilk (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 996, 1007.) Jasmine was, emotionally and physically, particularly susceptible to abuse. Jasmine and Lynch lived together, and Lynch had constant access to Jasmine, who became pregnant with his child

in early 2020. (5RT 381.) Indeed, Lynch abused her frequently, even when she tried to talk through the issues. (5RT 392.) Based on this evidence, there is no reasonable probability the jury would have rejected the aggravating circumstance that Jasmine was "particularly vulnerable" (rule 4.421(a)(3)) had that circumstance been presented to it in accord with section 1170, subdivision (b). Accordingly, the trial court's error in relying upon this aggravating circumstance was harmless.

3. Prior prison terms and parole

Third, there is no reasonable probability the jury would have rejected that Lynch had previously served prior prison terms (rule 4.421(b)(3)) or that he was on probation or parole at the time he committed the present offenses (rule 4.421(b)(4)). This information was readily ascertainable from Lynch's prior criminal history and was not contested by Lynch at the sentencing hearing. (9RT 799-801.) The trial court's reliance on this aggravating circumstance was therefore harmless.

4. Prior performance on parole

Fourth, there is no reasonable probability that the jury would have rejected that Lynch's prior performance on parole was unsatisfactory (rule 4.421(b)(5)). That Lynch was previously on parole when he committed new offenses—and was subsequently convicted of them—plainly shows that he performed unsatisfactorily for purposes of this aggravating factor. (See *Towne, supra,* 44 Cal.4th at pp. 82-83.) Lynch did not contest this point at the sentencing. (9RT 799-801.) Accordingly, the

trial court's reliance on this aggravating circumstance was harmless.

C. There is also no reasonable probability the trial court would have imposed a sentence other than the upper term even had it relied on fewer aggravating circumstances

In the event this Court disagrees that the jury would have found all the aggravating circumstances relied upon by the trial court true beyond a reasonable doubt, then the final question must be asked: whether there is a reasonable probability that the trial court would have imposed a sentence other than the upper term in light of the aggravating circumstances that the court could properly consider. Again, the answer is no.

As a baseline, and as explained *ante*, the trial court properly relied upon two of the eight aggravating factors that were proven in conformance with amended section 1170, subdivision (b). First was Lynch's extensive prior convictions, including a variety of felonies and misdemeanors. (9RT 799-801.) Second was the fact that Lynch had used a weapon, a table leg, during the commission of the crime. (9RT 799-801.) The trial court underscored both points during the sentencing hearing. (9RT 799-801.) Even if the trial court could have relied on only some, but not all, of the additional aggravating circumstances it identified—indeed, even if it could have relied only on the two properly proven aggravating circumstances—the record shows that the trial court still would have made the same decision to impose the upper term because, under the new statute, "there are circumstances in aggravation of the crime that justify the

imposition of a term of imprisonment exceeding the middle term." (§ 1170, subd. (b)(2).)

There were no factors in mitigation presented by Lynch at the sentencing hearing. (9RT 800.) Although Lynch had the opportunity and incentive to argue mitigating circumstances based on the factors available in rule 4.423, he failed to do so. Moreover, statements made by the trial court at the sentencing hearing demonstrate that it would have imposed the upper term sentence even if it could not consider all eight aggravating circumstances. Specifically, the trial court stated, "I do believe that [Lynch] deserves the sentence recommended by probation. The upper term I think is appropriate." (9RT 800.) These statements reflect the court's view that Lynch deserved the upper term sentence in the interests of justice. (See former § 1170, subd. (b) [choice of the lower, middle, or upper term rested "within the sound discretion of the court," allowing court to "select the term which, in the court's discretion, best serves the interests of justice"].)

Thus, even if one or more of the aggravating circumstances could not have permissibly been relied upon by the trial court, the record here discloses no reasonable probability that its sentencing determination would have been any different. (See *Price*, *supra*, 1 Cal.4th at pp. 491-492 [no reasonable probability of different sentence despite invalid aggravating factors, in light of three remaining "very powerful" aggravating factors and no mitigating factors]; *Avalos*, *supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 233 [no reasonable probability of different sentence because improper

dual use of facts "was not determinative" in court's sentencing decision].)9

III. IMPOSITION OF AN UPPER TERM SENTENCE WHEN NO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES RELIED UPON BY THE COURT WERE PROPERLY FOUND UNDER SECTION 1170, SUBDIVISION (B), IS REVIEWABLE FOR HARMLESS ERROR

Lynch raises an additional issue in his opening brief that is not presented by this case. He advocates for automatic reversal in situations when a trial court has imposed an upper term sentence without the support of any aggravating circumstances that were proved as now required by section 1170, subdivision (b)(2). (OBM 27-42.)

The Court need not reach this issue. As Lynch concedes, the trial court relied on his prior convictions to support his upper term sentence, which complied with amended section 1170, subdivision (b). (OBM 40-41.) The facts in Lynch's case therefore implicate the issue of which harmless error standard applies when only some of the aggravating circumstances relied upon by a sentencing court to support an upper term were found in compliance with section 1170, subdivision (b)(2). And that is the question presented by Lynch's petition for review. It is not necessary for the Court to reach the broader issue advanced by Lynch to resolve this appeal.

⁹ Given the absence of mitigating circumstances and the court's statements at sentencing, it can also be said that the record clearly indicates the court would have imposed the same upper term sentence even had it been permitted to rely on fewer aggravating circumstances. (See fn. 7, *ante*.)

In any event, Lynch's argument is unsound. He argues that a sentence based on aggravating factors that entirely fail to comply with the new jury-trial requirement is "unauthorized." (OBM 27-30.) The "unauthorized sentence" doctrine is an exception to waiver or forfeiture. (In re G.C. (2020) 8 Cal.5th 1119, 1129-1130.) To the extent the doctrine is relevant to Lynch's harmless-error argument, such a sentence is not unauthorized as that term has been used in the forfeiture context. "[A] sentence is generally 'unauthorized' when it could not lawfully be imposed under any circumstance in the particular case. Appellate courts are willing to intervene in the first instance because such error is 'clear and correctable' independent of any factual issues presented by the record at sentencing." (People v. Scott (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 354.) That is different from a sentence that is designated by statute but that was imposed in violation of statutory or constitutional procedure. An upper term sentence is within statutory bounds under section 1170, subdivision (b); Lynch's complaint focuses only on the procedure a court must follow in imposing that sentence. The scenario is not one in which the sentence "could not lawfully be imposed under any circumstance in the particular case." (See, e.g., People v. Anderson (2020) 9 Cal.5th 946, 961-962 [imposition of unpleaded sentence enhancement not "unauthorized sentence"]; People v. Rivera (2019) 7 Cal.5th 306, 348 [fines imposed in excess of statutory capl.)

In any event, whether or not labeled "unauthorized," it is well established that the particular type of error of which Lynch complains is subject to review for prejudice. Constitutional error in failing to submit essential facts to a jury under the *Apprendi* line of cases has long been held amenable to harmless-error analysis. (*Recuenco, supra,* 548 U.S. at pp. 219-220.) Lynch nonetheless analogizes the lack of a jury finding on an aggravating circumstance necessary to support an upper term sentence to the lack of a jury finding on an element of a charged offense. (See OBM 25, 28, 33-37.) And, appearing to rely on the requirement in section 1170, subdivision (b), that all aggravating factors be submitted to a jury (or fall into the exception for prior convictions) (OBM 30-31), he suggests that imposition of an upper term when no aggravating circumstances have been found in compliance with the new statutory requirements would amount to a directed verdict (OBM 25, 33-34).

It is true that, for Sixth Amendment purposes, the *Apprendi* line of cases rejects any analytical distinction between the "elements" of a crime and other facts that are essential to authorize a particular sentence. (See *Recuenco*, *supra*, 548 U.S. at pp. 219-220.) But precisely because elements and aggravating factors are on equal footing for Sixth Amendment purposes, even the complete failure to use permissibly-found aggravating factors would mean that only *some* of the constitutionally required facts necessary to support the sentence were missing—the remaining facts having been found by the jury in returning its guilty

verdict.¹⁰ And it is well settled that the absence of a jury finding on one or more elements of an offense is subject to harmless error review. (See *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 8-15; *People v. Merritt* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 819, 830; *People v. Mil* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 400, 417; *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 490.)¹¹

Lynch further alludes to a lack-of-pleading theory of structural error, arguing that "where no facts supporting an aggravated term have been properly found, imposition of the upper term punishes the defendant for sentence-aggravating facts that he was not charged with violating, he did not stipulate to, and were not found true by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." (OBM 29, italics added.) He relies in particular on People v. Hernandez (1988) 46 Cal.3d 194. The reliance is misplaced. (OBM 29.) Hernandez centrally involved a failure to satisfy pleading-and-proof requirements for enhancement allegations. (See Hernandez, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 207; see also Anderson, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 953 [as a rule, sentence enhancements "shall be alleged in the accusatory pleading and either admitted by the defendant in open court or found to be true by the trier of

¹⁰ This would be true even if the Constitution, rather than state statutory law, compelled *every* aggravating circumstance to be found in conformity with the Sixth Amendment.

¹¹ There is no merit to Lynch's argument that such harmless-error review would impermissibly supplant required jury factfinding with judicial factfinding. (OBM 33-35.) That view was expressly rejected by the United States Supreme Court in *Neder*. (See *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at p. 11; see also *id*. at pp. 37-39 (dis. opn. of Scalia, J.).)

fact"]; § 1170.1, subd. (e).) Section 1170, subdivision (b), though requiring aggravating circumstances to be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, contains no similar pleading requirement. More to the point, however, a failure to properly plead is subject to harmless error analysis. (See Pen. Code, § 960; Anderson, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 965.) So the argument does not advance Lynch's structural-error claim even if a pleading requirement applied to aggravating circumstances.

Insofar as *Hernandez* also held that the removal of an essential element of a charge from the jury's consideration—as distinguished from misinstruction on an element—is not amenable to harmless-error review (*Hernandez*, *supra*, 46 Cal.3d at p. 210), that holding cannot be squared with later authority on the same point. (See *Neder*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at pp. 8-15; *Merritt*, *supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 830; *People v. Mil*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 417.)

CONCLUSION

The judgment should be affirmed.